THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION
★VOLUNTARY REMANDED ★
BY THE APPELLATE PANEL

RECEIVED

Jul 24 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2019-000369
Formerly 2018-001364
W.C.C. File Nos. 1322451, 1319203, 1420487

Terry H Capone,

Appellant,

v.

City of Columbia, Employer, and
Companion Third Party Administrator, LLC, Carrier,

Respondents,

★FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT★

Terry H Capone, Pro Se Appellant.

Mr. Terry H Capone
Fire Battalion Chief-Retired
130 Summerlea Drive
Columbia, South Carolina 29203
(803) 622-6578
tcapone@liberty.edu
Pro Per, Appellant

July 10, 2020*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

“All laws which are repugnant to the Constitution are null and void. “Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 37 (1803)

The Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution provides that “the Laws of the United States . shall be the supreme Law of the Land . any Thing in the Constitution or Laws of any State to the Contrary notwithstanding.” U.S. Const. art. VI, cl. 2. State and local laws are thus preempted when they conflict with federal law. See National Helicopter Corp. of Am. v. City of New York, 137 F.3d 81, 88 (2d Cir.1998).

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution reads in relevant part” . . . [n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” The 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution contains similar due-process language and reads in relevant part “. . . nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.”

A judgment may not be rendered in violation of constitutional protections. The validity of a judgment may be affected by a failure to give the constitutionally required due process notice and an opportunity to be heard. *Earle v. McVeigh*, 91 US 503, 23 L Ed 398. See also Restatements, judgments 4(b). *Prather vLoyd*, 86 Idaho 45, 382 P2d 910.

The “words used [in the statute must be] so clear, strong, and imperative that no other meaning can be annexed to them, or . . . the intention of the legislature [must be such that it] cannot be otherwise satisfied.” U.S. *Fid. & Guar. Co. v. United States*, 209 U.S. 306, 313, 314, 28 S.Ct. 537, 52 L.Ed. 804 (1908).

The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment guarantees that an individual will not be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. V. Due process of law has been interpreted to include notice and a fair opportunity to be heard. See *Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Tr. Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 313, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950). To raise a due process question, the claimant must demonstrate a property interest entitled to such protections. *Richard v. West*, 161 F.3d 719, 723 (Fed.Cir.1998).

"Where a court failed to observe safeguards, it amounts to denial of due process of law, court is de-prived of juris." *Merritt v. Hunter*, C.A. Kansas 170 F.2d 739 (10TH Cir. 1948)

In this regard, the appellant claimed that the Board’s consideration of the altered medical records had effectively denied him a full and fair hearing on the merits of his claim and thereby deprived him of a property interest in the VA benefits he was seeking without due process of law. *Cushman v. Shinseki* United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit 576 F.3d 1290 (2009)

The United States Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims (CAVC) upheld the Board’s decision with respect to the 1977 decision. *Id.* That decision was then summarily affirmed by the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (Federal Circuit) with the provision that the appellant would be free again to raise his previous claims. *Cushman*, 576 F.3d at 1296.

As the Supreme Court explained more than 50 years ago in *Lawlor v. National Screen Service Corp.*, 349 U.S. 322 (1955), *res judicata* does not bar a suit, even if it involves the same course of wrongful conduct as alleged earlier, so long as the suit alleges new facts or a worsening of the earlier conditions. That is precisely the case here, with (1) expanded runways, including one 2000 feet closer to Plaintiffs’ home; (2) new water pollution from the expansion; and (3) the revelation that the City has denoted Plaintiffs’ property for acquisition because it is in runway areas where residential use is forbidden.

Similarly, res judicata does “not bar a claim that does not accrue prior to the litigation triggering the bar.” *Funny Guy*, 795 S.E.2d at 900 (emphasis added). A party is not precluded from bringing a claim that he was unable to bring in the initial litigation, regardless whether that claim constitutes part of the same “conduct, transaction, or occurrence.” *D’Ambrosio*, 809 S.E.2d at 628; *Funny Guy*, 795 S.E.2d at 890 (“Determining which claims should have been brought in earlier litigation largely depends on which claims could have been brought.” (citation omitted)); see also *Lawlor v. Nat’l Screen Serv. Corp.*, 349 U.S. 322, 328 (1955) (explaining that although an earlier judgment “precludes recovery on claims arising prior to its entry, it cannot be given the effect of extinguishing claims which did not even then exist”).

§ 3. Privileges and immunities; due process; equal protection of laws. The privileges and immunities of citizens of this State and of the United States under this Constitution shall not be abridged, nor shall any person be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law, nor shall any person be denied the equal protection of the laws. (1970 (56) 2684; 1971 (57) 315.) Editor's Note The present provisions of this section are identical to former § 5 of Article I as it existed prior to the 1971 revision. For similar provisions in Constitution of 1868, see Const 1868, Art I, § 12;;;MI;;;.

§ 9. Courts; speedy remedy. All courts shall be public, and every person shall have speedy remedy therein for wrongs sustained. (1970 (56) 2684; 1971 (57) 315.) Editor's Note The present provisions of this section are identical to former § 15 of Article I as it existed prior to the 1971 revision. For similar provisions in Constitution of 1868, see Const 1868, Art I, § 15;;;MI;;;.

§ 22. Procedure before administrative agencies; judicial review. No person shall be finally bound by a judicial or quasi-judicial decision of an administrative agency affecting private rights except on due notice and an opportunity to be heard; nor shall he be subject to the same person for both prosecution and adjudication; nor shall he be deprived of liberty or property unless by a mode of procedure prescribed by the General Assembly, and he shall have in all such instances the right to judicial review. (1970 (56) 2684; 1971 (57) 315.)

§ 23. Provisions of Constitution mandatory. The provisions of the Constitution shall be taken, deemed, and construed to be mandatory and prohibitory, and not merely directory, except where expressly made directory or permissive by its own terms. (1970 (56) 2684; 1971 (57) 315.) Editor's Note The present provisions of this section are identical to former § 29 of Article I as it existed prior to the 1971 revision. These due process rights apply to South Carolina Workers' Compensation benefits all covered South Carolinian's have a property interest in South Carolina Workers' Compensation benefits, “we have previously recognized that entitlement to workers' compensation benefits constitutes a property interest. *Orszula v. Orszula*, 292 S.C. 264, 356 S.E. (2d) 114 (1987)”.

EXCLUSIVE REMEDY DOCTRINE

Personal injury. The statute of limitations for personal injury is three (3) years after the person knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action. See S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-530 (2015).

Under the “exclusivity rule,” workers’ compensation is the exclusive remedy for personal injury to an employee arising out of and in the course of employment. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-540 (1985); Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Prod./S.C., Inc., 405 S.C. 359, 747 S.E.2d 757 (2013); F. PATRICK HUBBARD & ROBERT L. FELIX, SOUTH CAROLINA LAW OF TORTS 212 (3d ed. 1990).

In most situations, a tort action by an employee against an employer or against a co-employee is barred, and exclusive jurisdiction rests with the Workers’ Compensation Commission. HUBBARD & FELIX, supra. This is a defense to a tort suit that is waived if it is not raised in the

The very purpose of the Act is to assure the employee of redress for his injuries, if the facts show that he is entitled thereto, and to relieve him of the uncertainties of a trial in suit for damages. Riddle v. Fairforest Finishing Co. (S.C. 1942) 198 S.C.419, 18 S.E.2d 341

The purpose of the section {Code 1962 § 72-11} is to make the “owner”, the person who is interested in having the work done, liable to the employee so injured. Marchbanks v. Duke Power Co. (S.C.1939) 190 S.C.336, 2 S.E.2d 444.

Any doubts as to a worker’s status should be resolved in favor of including him or her under the Workers’ Compensation Act. Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products/South Carolina, Inc. (S.C. 2013) 405 S.C. 359, 747 S.E.2d 757.

Workers’ Compensation 51 Workers’ Compensation Act should be construed in favor of coverage, and any reasonable doubts as to construction of the Act should be resolved in favor of the claimant. Hall v. Desert Aire, Inc (S.C.App 2007) 376 S.C.338, 656 S.E.2d 753, rehearing denied. Workers Compensation 52

The court is committed to a liberal construction of the Compensation Act to include injured workmen within its protection rather than exclude them. Cagle v Clinton Cotton Mills (1949) 216 SC 93, 56 SE2d 747. Bailey v Santee River Hardwood Co. (1944) 205 SC 433, 32 SE2d 365.

The Statute is to be construed liberally for the protection of the injured employee-to promote the purpose of its enactment. Murdaugh v Robert Lee Const. Co.(1937) 185 SC 497, 194 SE 447. Ham v Mullins Lbr. Co. (1940) 193 SC 66, 7 SE2d 712. Cokely v Robert Lee, Inc. (1941) 197 SC 157, 14 SE2d 889. Pate v Plymouth Mfg. Co. (1941) 198 SC 159, 17 SE2d 146.

The Workers’ Compensation Act has to be construed liberally in favor of coverage, and doubtful cases should be resolved in favor of the injured employee. Douglas v. Spartan Mills, Startex division (S.C. 1965) 245 S.C. 265, 140 S.E.2d 173.

UNDER DISABILITY /UN SOUND MIND/ INSANE

Tolling.

Generally persons who are (1) under the age of 18, (2) insane, or (3) imprisoned for a term less than life at the time the cause of action accrues may avoid the effect of the statute of limitations applicable to their claims. See S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-40 (2015). The statute of limitations

may also be subject to equitable tolling. See *Hooper v. Ebenezer Sr. Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 115, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009).

Where a latent or quiescent weakened, but not disabling, condition resulting in disease is by accidental injury in the course of the scope of employment, aggravated, accelerated or activated, with resulting disability, such disability is compensable. *Glover v Columbia Hospital of Richland County* (1960) 236 SC 410, 114 SE2d 565. *Gordon v E. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, (1955) 228 SC 67, 88 SE2d 844.

An injury is unexpected, bringing it within the category of accident, if the workers' compensation claimant did not intend it or expect it would result from what he was doing; therefore, if an injury is unexpected from the claimant's point of view, it qualifies as an injury by accident. *Landry v. Carolinas Healthcare Systems* (S.C.App. 2011) 396 S.C. 149, 719 S.E.2d 288, rehearing denied. *Workers' Compensation* 515

Where a previously existing condition or disease is aggravated by injury or accident arising out of or in the course of employment and this results in disability, there is a compensable injury. *Arnold v. Benjamin Booth Co.* (S.C. 1971) 257 S.C. 337, 185 S.E.2d 830. *Workers' Compensation* 554.

Disability in compensation cases is to be measured by loss of earning capacity. *Wynn v. People Natural Gas Co. of S.C.* (S.C.1961) 238 S.C. 1, 118 S.E.2d 812. *Workers Compensation* 880.5 Under the economic model of workers' compensation, the Workers' Compensation Commission may predicate a finding of total disability on the claimant's complete loss of earning capacity as a result of a work-related injury. *Simmons v. City of Charleston* (S.C.App. 2002) 349 S.C. 64 562 S.E.2d 476, rehearing denied, certiorari dismissed. *Workers' Compensation* 880.3

Where an injury aggravates a pre-existing condition or disease so that the disability is continued for a longer period than would normally result from the injury alone, such disability is nevertheless compensable. *Cole v. State Highway Department* (S.C. 1939) 190 S.C. 142, 2 S.E.2d 490. *Workers Compensation* 554 Compensation is not awarded for the physical injury as such, but for "disability" produced by such injury. The disability is to be measured by the employee's capacity or incapacity to earn the wages which he was receiving at the time of his injury. *Keeter v Clifton Mfg. Co.* (1954) 225

LACK OF JURISDCITION

When the plaintiffs appealed to the court of common pleas from the adverse ruling of the Commission, such Commission had no further jurisdiction over the controversy pending the appeal. *Greer v. Greenville County* (S.C.1965) 245 S.C. 442, 141 S.E.2d 91.

Lack of subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived and an appellat court may raise it ex mero motu. *McCreery v. Covenant Presbyterian Church* (S.C.App. 1989) 299 S.C. 218, 383 S.E.2d 264, reversed 303 S.C.271, 400 S.E.2d 130. *Appeal And Error* 23

When an issue involves jurisdiction of the Workers' Compensation Commission, the appellate court can take its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Simmons v. SC STRONG* (S.C.App. 2013) 402 S.C. 166, 739 S.E.2d 631, rehearing denied, certiorari denied. *Workers' Comepnasation* 1939.11(g)

"When it clearly appears that the court lacks jurisdiction, the court has no authority to reach the merits. In such a situation the action should be dismissed for want of jurisdiction." *Melo v. US*, 505 F.2d 1026 (8th Cir. 1974) "A court cannot confer jurisdiction where none existed and cannot make a void proceeding valid. It is clear and well established law that a void order can be challenged in any court". *Old Wayne Mut. L. Assoc. v. McDonough*, 204 U.S. 8, 27 S. Ct. 236 (1907). "*There is no discretion to ignore lack of jurisdiction.*" *Joyce v. US.*, 474 F.2d 215 (1973).

The Court of Appeals may correct errors of law in both legal and equity actions. *South Carolina Dept. of Transp. V. M& T Enterprise of Mt.Pleasant, LLC* (S.C.App.2008) 379 S.C. 645, 667 S.E.2d 7. Appeal And Error 846(1); Appeal And Error 847(1)

A court may reverse or modify the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision if substantial Rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are effected by other error of law. *Etheredge v. Monsanto Co.* (S.C.App. 2002) 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 rehearing denied. Workers' Compensation 1945; Workers' Compensation 1946

If the evidence is all one way, or if the findings of the Commission are based on surmise, speculation or conjecture, then the issue becomes one of law for the court and not of fact for the Commission. *Herndon v. Morgan Mills, Inc.* (S.C.) 1965) 246 S.C.201, 143 S.E.2d 376.

Findings of fact by the Commission relative to jurisdiction are not conclusive on appeal and both Supreme Court and circuit court have power and duty to review the record and decide jurisdictional question in accord with preponderance of the evidence. *Allen v. Phinney Oil Co.* (S.C. 1962) 241 S.C. 173, 127 S.E.2d 448. Workers' Compensation 1939.11(3)

Jurisdiction cannot be acquired by Commission by estoppels. *Allen v. Phinney Oil Co.*(S.C. 1962) 241S.C 173, 127 S.E.2d 448.

THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA IS INAPPLICABLE TO A VOID JUDGEMENT

Thus Appellant current claims based on events that occurred after the above cited litigation could not have been brought, based on a separate set of facts and occurrences that are separate distinct and did not exist.

"To answer this question, a number of other circuits have "adopted a bright-line rule that resjudicata does not apply to events post-dating the filing of the initial complaint." *Morgan v. Covington Twp.*, 648 F.3d 172, 177-78 (3d Cir. 2011); see also *Bank of NY. v. First Millennium, Inc.*, 607 F.3d 905, 919 (2d Cir. 2010); *Smith v. Potter*, 513 F.3d 781, 783 (7th Cir. 2008); *Rawe v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 462 F.3d 521, 529-30 (6th Cir. 2006); *Mitchell v. City of Moore*, 218 F.3d 1190, 1202 (10th Cir. 2000); *Manning v. City of Auburn*, 953 F.2d 1355, 1360 (11th

Cir. 1992); cf *Young-Henderson v. Spartanburg Area Mental Health Ctr.*, 945 F.2d 770, 774 (4th Cir. 1991) (suggesting without 10 Howard v. City of Coos Bay deciding that resjudicata need not "preclude claims that could not have been brought at the time the first complaint was filed"); 18 Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Edward H. Cooper, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 4409 (3d ed. 2017) ('Most cases rule that an action need include only the portions of the claim due at the time of commencing that action, frequently observing that the opportunity to file a supplemental complaint is not an obligation.').

Indeed, the Seventh Circuit has gone so far as to call it the "federal rule," *Ellis v. CCA of Tennessee LLC*, 650 F.3d 640, 652 (7th Cir. 2011), and the Supreme Court spoke approvingly of this line of cases in *Whole Woman's Health v. Hellerstedt*, 136 S. Ct. 2292, 2305 (2016)."

South Carolina courts use various tests in determining whether a claim should have been raised in a prior suit: "(1) when there is identity of the subject matter in both cases; (2) where the cases involve the same primary right held by the plaintiff and one primary wrong committed by the defendant; (3) when there is the same evidence in both cases; and recently (4) when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence." *Plum Creek Development Co., Inc. v. City of Conway*, [334 S.C. 30](#), [512 S.E.2d 106](#), 109 (1999) (citing *South Carolina Civil Procedure*, pp. 649-50). South Carolina courts have held that "[i]f the same facts or evidence would sustain both, the two actions are considered the same within the rule that the judgment in the former is a bar to the subsequent action.

If, however, the two actions rest upon different states of facts, or if different proofs would be required to sustain the two actions a judgment in one is no bar to the maintenance of the other." *Griggs v. Griggs*, 214 S.C. 177, 51 S.E.2d 622, 626 (1949) (quoting 30 Am.Jur. § 174 at 174).

However, where a medical opinion is sufficiently clear to remove any reason for the trier of fact to have to guess at the cause of the injury, that opinion is stated within a reasonable degree of medical certainty. *Huffy Service First v. Ledbetter*, 76 Ark. App. 533, 69 S.W.3d 449 (2002), citing *Howell v. Scroll Tech.*, 343 Ark. 297, 35 S.W.3d 800 (2001). However, the Commission is not free to arbitrarily disregard any expert medical opinion. *Freeman v. Con-Agra Frozen Foods*, 344 Ark. 296, 40 S.W. 3d 760 (2001).

Some personal injury victims who sustain serious traumatic brain injury are often considered by law to be of "unsound mind." A person of "unsound mind" is unable to manage his affairs or to understand his legal rights or liabilities. *Sahf v. Lake Havasu City Assn' for the Retarded*, 150 Ariz. 50, 55, 721 P.2d 1177, 1182 (1986); *Allen v. Powell's Int'l, Inc.*, 21 Ariz. App. 269, 270, 518 P.2d 588, 589 (1974). Other courts create their own standard, to be applied either independently or in combination with their test for insanity. For example, in one case, the judge defined an unsound mind as follows: "An unsound mind exists where there is an essential privation of the reasoning faculties, or where a person is incapable of understanding and acting with discretion in the ordinary affairs of life." *Turner v. Howerton et al.*, no. 22689-VA, April 2, 1997

The South Carolina Workers's Compensation Act was tailored after the North Carolina Act and opinions of the North Carolina Supreme Court construing such Act are entitled to great weight with the appellate courts of this state. *Carter v. Penney Tire and Recapping Co.*, 261 S.C. 341, 200 S.E. (2d) 64 (1973). I agree with the majority that decisions of North Carolina courts construing that state's workers' compensation statutes are entitled to great weight. *Nelson v. Yellow Cab Co.*, 349 S.C. 589, 564 S.E.2d 110 (2002).

An appellate court may reverse a decision of the Appellate Panel if a claimant's substantial rights "have been prejudiced because the [Appellate Panel's] findings, inferences, [or] conclusions" are "affected by other error of law," or "arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) (Supp. 2010).

"Great liberality is to be exercised in allowing the introduction of evidence in workers' compensation proceedings." *Trotter v. Trane Coil Facility*, 384 S.C. 109, 116, 681 S.E.2d 36, 40 (Ct. App. 2009). Second, hearsay evidence is admissible in workers' compensation proceedings "if corroborated by facts, circumstances, or other evidence." *Hamilton v. Bob Bennett Ford*, 339 S.C. 68, 70, 528 S.E.2d 667, 668 (2000).

The testimony of Cantrell's human resources administrator was corroborated by other evidence before the Appellate Panel, including the form and a statement made by Cantrell to his physician. Accordingly, the Appellate Panel did not err in relying on the testimony.

EXTENSION OF LIMITATION PERIOD

Statute of Repose

No actions to recover damages based upon or arising out of the defective or unsafe condition of an improvement to real property may be brought more than eight years after substantial completion of the improvement. S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-640 (Supp. 2014). The 2005 amendment substituted "eight years" for "thirteen years" and became effective July 1, 2005 and applies to improvements to real property for which certificates of occupancy are issued by a county or municipality or completion of a final inspection by the responsible local building official after the effective date. The thirteen year period applies to the improvements that reached certificates of occupancy prior to July 1, 2005.

The limitations provided by § 15-3-640 are not available as a defense to any person guilty of fraud, gross negligence, or recklessness in providing components in furnishing materials, in developing real property, in performing or furnishing the design, plans, specifications, surveying, planning, supervision, testing or observation of construction, construction of, or land surveying, in connection with such an improvement, or to any person who conceals any such cause of action. S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-670 (Supp. 2014).

South Carolina Code 15-3-40 (2013) Exceptions as to person under disability If a person entitled to bring an action mentioned in Article 5 of this chapter or an action under Chapter 78 of this title, except for a penalty or forfeiture or against a sheriff or other officer for an escape, is at the time the cause of action accrued either:

- (1) within the age of eighteen years; or
- (2) insane;

the time of the disability is not a part of the time limited for the commencement of the action, except that the period within which the action must be brought cannot be extended:

- (a) more than five years by any such disability, except infancy; nor
- (b) in any case longer than one year after the disability ceases. SECTION 15-3-60. Effect of two or more disabilities.

When two or more disabilities shall coexist at the time the right of action accrues the limitation shall not attach until they all be removed.

Section 15-3-50 Disability must exist when right accrued.- "No person shall avail himself of a disability unless it existed when his right of action accrued.

Statutes: 15-3-640 15-3-670 Real Property- Area of Law Action based upon defective or unsafe condition of improvement to real property
(8) years (statue establishes an outside limitation of 8 years after substantial completion of the improvement during which normal statutes of limitation continue to run) (Limitation period may not be asserted by (1) defendant in personal injury or wrongful death action

Who was in possession of property and knew or should have known of defect; (2) defendant who engaged in fraud, gross negligence, or reckless misconduct in connection with the improvements or who concealed any cause of action; (3) defendants in personal injury or wrongful death action (a) if the injury, by its nature, was not discoverable in the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time of its occurrence, and (b) the injury was the result of exposure to a toxic or other harmful substance overtime, instead of the result of a sudden and fortuitous trauma

FRAUD ON THE COURT

Fraud. The statute of limitations for fraud is three (3) years. See S.C. CODE ANN. § 15- 3-530(7) (2015)

Employment. The statute of limitations for employment actions is generally one (1) year. See S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 15-3-560, 41-1-80.

Brenda Goff v. Ford Motor Company, Case No. 2:97-0341 (March 15,2001). This conspiracy between Ford and its former employee, a conspiracy facilitated by Ford's defense counsel, was first exposed to the public eye by the plaintiffs in the **Cammack** trial, discussed *supra*. Three months later, the South Carolina Court of Appeals concluded that the conspiracy between Ford and its former employee through which Ford knowingly purchased and used false testimony might constitute "fraud on the court." **Chewing v. Ford Motor Company**, 550 S.E.2d 584 (S.C.App. 2001).

Fraud upon the court is "fraud which . . . subvert[s] the integrity of the Court itself, *or is a fraud perpetrated by officers of the court* so that the judicial machinery cannot perform in the usual manner its impartial task of adjudging cases that are presented for adjudication." *Evans v. Gunter*, 294 S.C. 525, 529, 366 S.E.2d 44, 46 (Ct. App. 1988) (emphasis added) (quoting *Lightsey & Flanagan, supra*, at 408). It has also been defined as "fraud that does, or at least attempts to, defile the court itself . . ." 12 Moore's Federal Practice § 60.21[4][a] (3d. ed. 2000). Historically, after the period to claim relief under Rule 60(b)(1) through (3), SCRCP, has expired, courts have required a showing of extrinsic fraud to vacate a judgment. See *Hagy v. Pruitt*, 339 S.C. 425, 430, 529 S.E.2d 714, 717 (2000); *Evans*, 294 S.C. at 529, 366 S.E.2d at 46.

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