THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
APPELLATE PANEL

Appellate Case No. 2019-000369
W.C.C. File Nos. 1322451, 1319203, 1420487

RECEIVED
JUL 29 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Terry Capone, Appellant,

v.

City of Columbia, Employer, and
Companion Third Party Administrator, LLC, Carrier, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Cynthia C. Dooley (SC Bar No. 13623)
Carmelo B. Sammataro (SC Bar No. 69746)
TURNER PADGET GRAHAM & LANEY, P.A.
Post Office Box 1473
Columbia, SC 29202
CDooley@TurnerPadget.com
SSammataro@TurnerPadget.com
Phone: (803) 254-2200
Fax: (803) 799-3957

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

ARGUMENT

Capone’s attempts to secure appellate review of the December 2, 2015 Decision and Order of the single commissioner are futile, and that order should be affirmed. First, by his own admission, Capone never filed a timely Form 30, Request for Commission Review. Accordingly, his claims are time barred, and the December 2, 2015 Decision and Order establishes the law of the case. Second, Capone’s appellate filings contain new issues and arguments that are conclusory and were never raised to or ruled upon by the single

commissioner. As such, those issues and arguments are waived on appeal. For all of these reasons, addressed in greater detail, below, this Court should affirm.

I. THE DOCTRINE OF *RES JUDICATA* BARS FURTHER REVIEW OF APPELLANT’S ALLEGED WORK-RELATED INJURIES.

In its March 1, 2019 Decision and Order, the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission correctly determined that the doctrine of *res judicata* bars further appellate review of Capone’s claims in this case. This Court should affirm.

It is black letter law that this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction in a workers’ compensation appeal where the appellant failed to file a timely Form 30, Request for Commission Review. As the Supreme Court has observed, the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission “lacks the authority to extend the fourteen days permitted for the filing of an appeal from the decision of a single commissioner.” *Allison v. W.L. Gore & Associates*, 394 S.C. 185, 188, 714 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2011) (vacating full commission order and circuit court’s reversal of full commission order where claimant filed untimely Form 30, Request for Commission Review) (citing *Goodman v. City of Columbia*, 318 S.C. 488, 458 S.E.2d 531 (1995)). By extension, “an appellate body may not extend the time to appeal.” *Id.*, 318 S.C. at 188, 714 S.E.2d at 550 (citations omitted). Therefore, our Supreme Court has held that where an appellant “failed to appeal the single commissioner’s finding to the full commission . . . it is the law of the case.” *Transportation Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691-692 (2010) (citations omitted); *Hudson ex rel. Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Center*, 407 S.C. 112, 120, 754 S.E.2d 486, 490 (2014) (“Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from re-litigating issues decided in a lower court order, when the party voluntarily abandons its appeal of that order.”) (citations omitted).

Recognizing Capone’s pro se status, Commissioner McCaskill went to great lengths to explain the appellate process during the very first hearing on these claims back in August of 2015. He even stressed the importance of filing a timely Form 30, stating “[w]hen you get the signed copy [of the single commissioner’s order], . . . from that time, that starts the clock running. There is a period of 14 days. If you don’t agree, you contact the Commission, say ‘I want to appeal Commissioner McCaskill’s decision.’” (Aug. 21, 2015 Hr’g Trans. p. 54, lines 9-16) Despite Commissioner McCaskill’s specific instructions, Capone never filed a Form 30, Request for Commission Review, challenging the December 2, 2015 Decision and Order until April 10, 2018. During the intervening two-year period, he never requested, and the Full Commission lacked authority to grant, any extension of the fourteen-day deadline. Instead, he filed successive, duplicative Forms 50 and an impermissible motion to alter or amend. These procedural missteps compel this Court to affirm the Full Commission Decision and Order.

Simply stated, Capone is barred from re-litigating a prior finding of non-compensability that was not appealed to the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission. *See Mead v. Jessex, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 525, 534, 676 S.E.2d 722, 727 (Ct. App. 2009); *Johnson v. Greenwood Mills, Inc.*, 317 S.C. 248, 251, 452 S.E.2d 832, 833 (1994) (applying *res judicata* to prevent re-litigation of matter where “the parties and subject matter are the same as in the prior litigation, and a court of competent jurisdiction issued an [o]rder which was not appealed.”); *Owenby v. Owens Corning Fiberglass*, 313 S.C. 181, 437 S.E.2d 130 (Ct. App. 1993) (*res judicata* applied where parties were the same and trial court order was not appealed). The Full Commission correctly determined that the December 2, 2015 Decision and Order was not timely appealed and, therefore, establishes the law of the case. This Court should affirm.

II. MOTIONS TO ALTER OR AMEND PURSUANT TO RULE 60 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE ARE NOT PROPER BEFORE THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION, AND APPELLANT'S RULE 60 MOTION WAS NOT TIMELY.

Capone's efforts to seek reconsideration or re-open the three claims at issue here are likewise unavailing. Even if South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 60 provided an additional mechanism by which Capone could seek alteration or amendment of the single commissioner's order denying benefits, his motion was untimely. Capone's motion, filed more than two years after the single commissioner's order, was based on alleged errors of law, violation of his constitutional rights, and fraud upon the tribunal. Rule 60 contemplates relief based upon the grounds alleged (but not substantiated) in Capone's motion; however, the Rule also provides that "[t]he motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3)² **not more than one year after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken.**" See Rule 60(b), SCRPC (emphasis added). As noted, the initial order denying benefits was filed December 2, 2015. Thus, any motion to alter or amend, assuming such motions offer a viable avenue for relief in workers' compensation proceedings, would have been due on or before December 2, 2016. Assuming for the sake of argument that the Commission could consider a motion pursuant to Rule 60, SCRPC, Capone's was not filed within one year of judgment and was not timely according to the plain text of the Rule.

Even if timely, however, a Rule 60 motion was an inappropriate method of seeking relief before the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. As this Court has explained,

² Rule 60(b)(1)-(3) provide relief for the following reasons: "(1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); [and] (3) fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party. . . ." The remaining grounds for relief provided for in Rule 60(b) are not at issue in these proceedings.

the workers' compensation statutory scheme does not contemplate a motion to reconsider, or to later or amend judgment, before the Commission pursuant to Rule 59 or Rule 60, SCRPC. *Nettles v. Spartanburg School District # 7*, 341 S.C. 580, 588, 535 S.E.2d 146, 150 n. 4 (Ct. App. 2000) (quoting *Lloyd v. AT&T Nassau Metals Corp.*, 299 S.C. 207, 209, 383 S.E.2d 257, 259 (Ct. App. 1989) (“[T]he proper remedy [to an error in the single commissioner’s order] is a timely appeal to the full Commission and then to the courts.”)).

Capone’s delay in seeking relief, combined with his failure to follow established procedural requirements, deprived the Commission and this Court of appellate jurisdiction to consider any alleged error on the part of the single commissioner in denying his claims. This Court should dismiss Capone’s appeal on this basis.

III. APPELLANT’S BRIEF RAISES ISSUES THAT WERE NOT PRESENTED BELOW AND ARE THEREFORE DEEMED WAIVED ON APPEAL.

In addition to the untimely filing of his Notice of Appeal, Capone never even addresses the actual merits of the orders issued by the single commissioner or the Full Commission. Instead, and for the first time on appeal, he asserts a litany of violations of his Constitutional rights that were never raised to or ruled upon by the single commissioner in the first (or any) instance. Capone’s constitutional rights arguments are to no avail as our appellate courts have held time and again that “[i]t is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (citing *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dept.*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (2007); *Martin v. Rapid Plumbing*, 369 S.C. 278, 291, 631 S.E.2d 547, 554 (Ct. App. 2006) (employer waived appellate review of issue that was not ruled upon below and failed to seek

timely review).

The same can be said with regard to arguments that are not sufficiently developed or detailed such that the appellate court can conduct an informed analysis. *See, e.g., MRI at Belfair, LLC v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control*, 394 S.C. 567, 576-577, 716 S.E.2d 111, 116 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding challenge to ALC review was not “sufficiently specific” to preserve its argument for appellate review.); *Bluffton Towne Center, LLC v. Gilleland-Prince*, 412 S.C. 554, 573, 772 S.E.2d 882, 893 (Ct. App. 2015) (finding issues not preserved for appellate review where appellant’s arguments were conclusory and not supported by legal authority); *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Benjamin*, 415 S.C. 137, 146, 781 S.E.2d 137, 142 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing rule that issues that are not supported by discussion of legal arguments and citations to authority are deemed waived and not preserved for appellate review) (citing Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR; *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994)).